



Patton, D., & Best, D. (2022). Motivations for change in drug addiction recovery: turning points as the antidotes to the pains of recovery . *Journal of Drug Issues*. Advance online publication. <https://doi.org/10.1177/00220426221140887>

Document version

Peer reviewed version

Licence

CC BY-NC-ND

Copyright information

This document is made available in accordance with publisher policies. Please cite only the published version using the reference above.

Unless a licence is specified above, all rights (including copyright and moral rights) in this document are retained by the authors and/or the copyright holders. The express permission of the copyright holder must be obtained for any use of this material other than for purposes permitted by law.

Takedown policy

Any individual, whether within or external to the University, has the right to request the removal of content from the Leeds Trinity University Repository, on the grounds that it breaches copyright, is in any other way unlawful, or represents research misconduct.

Complaints can be submitted via the Repository Complaints Form at <https://www.leedstrinity.ac.uk/media/site-assets/documents/key-documents/pdfs/repository-complaints-form.pdf>

Motivations for change in drug [addiction](#) recovery: turning points as the antidotes to the pains of recovery

Abstract:

Turning points during drug addiction recovery due to painful life events have been highlighted as being instrumental as push factors for change. This paper attempts to integrate the 'pains of desistance' approach into a recovery capital framework. It uses the life-narratives of those in drug addiction recovery to explore the role of the pains of recovery (push factors) alongside different forms of recovery capital (pull factors) at key stages or turning points during recovery. Findings demonstrate that pull factors were more prevalent and had a greater impact in promoting positive changes, supporting a recovery capital model. The life course approach revealed that turning points act as antidotes to the pains experienced in early recovery. The implications of this research highlight the need for drug policy to embed pull factors to promote positive change and create the opportunities for turning points to emerge, for practice to help dispel the myth of the need for a rock bottom moment and for a more macro conceptualisation and understanding of drug addiction recovery.

Keywords: Recovery; Recovery Pathways; Rock Bottom; Turning Points; [Addiction](#)Gender; life course

Introduction

~~The need to better understand the processes and motivations of change involved in the shift from a drug addiction career to sustainable recovery cannot be underestimated given the mortality, morbidity, health, social and economic costs to the individual and society (Hser et al. 2007). In the U.S. the National Institute of Drug Abuse (2018) estimated that the costs of drug use to society are in excess of \$600 billion. In the UK, the Dame Carol Black review (2020) estimated the total costs of drugs to~~

Commented [DP1]: Reviewer 1 asks: What does « drug » cover in the article? Are all psychoactive substances considered (that would be my guest), or only a few of them?

David do you have a standard definition you use? Also not sure where to insert the definition.

Commented [DB2R1]: I have added something to the response letter that you can carry across

Formatted: Font color: Red

society are over £19 billion with (86%) of the drug-related costs related to the heroin and crack cocaine markets. Despite such costs, relatively little is known about how many come to resolve and overcome acute drug addiction issues despite estimates in the United States that 9.1% of the adult population (22.35 million) have resolved a significant alcohol or other drug problem (Kelly et al., 2017).

Reasons for entry into [drug addiction](#) recovery and motivations for ongoing change in sustaining recovery are nuanced, complex and multifaceted (Best, et al., 2008; Hser, et al., 2007). ~~Recovery capital is positioned as the means by which people in recovery make positive, continual progress in their journey (Cloud and Cranfield, 2008).~~ Research has attempted to explore motivations for change [for the initiation into from addiction and n to recovery](#) sustenance of drug addiction recovery, yet it remains an [under-researched area](#) (Addison et al., 2020). ~~These~~ key moments of decision and transition [along the recovery journey](#) have been referred to as, turning points, epistemological shifts, as hitting a rock bottom moment or as an existential crisis (Teruya and Hser, 2010; McIntosh and McKegane, 2001; Maddux and Desmond, 1980). **The findings have highlighted painful life events and circumstances expressed through existential crisis and rock bottom type moments as being key to promoting entry into recovery or in promoting positive change (Teruya and Hser, 2010; McIntosh and McKegane, 2001).**

Commented [DB3]: Repeats the previous sentence

~~Despite such findings, Patton et al. (2022) have recently questioned the role of pains as motivational push factors for positive change in drug recovery. They found that a range of pull factors were more effective in promoting positive changes from early to stable recovery phases. They identified a range of pull factors and forces that helped promote positive identity and behavioural changes related to the CHIME model which stands for Connectedness; Hope; Identity; Meaning and Empowerment (Leamy et al., 2011). The model relates to positive social capital and connections to the community, a sense of hope and vision about their future, the development of new and positive identities, a sense of agency and empowerment through the discovery of meaning and purpose and community service. These factors and forces pulled a person forwards in their journey towards well being, human development and flourishing. Push factors tended to relate to a range of pains of recovery or barriers which acted as a tipping point to move away from the negative experiences and thereby prompted positive changes.~~

Drug Recovery

Drug recovery is a long term personal, dynamic and nuanced process of change involving fundamental shifts to identity, behaviour and lifestyle as well as promoting human growth, well-being, reintegration and active participation in society (Betty Ford Institute Consensus Group, 2007; UK Drug Policy Commission, 2008). The Recovery Science Research Collaborative define recovery as 'an individualized, intentional, dynamic, and relational process involving sustained efforts to improve wellness' (Ashford, et al. 2019: 5).

The Betty Ford Institute Consensus Panel (2007) identified that a person moves through different stages or phases during drug recovery, highlighting how the stability of recovery improves over time. The three key stages are early recovery (refers to the first year of recovery), sustained recovery (refers to years 1-5 of recovery), and stable recovery (refers to 5 or more years of recovery). Other studies also indicate that the likelihood of stable recovery is greatly improved with longer periods of abstinence (Vaillant, 2012; Hser et al., 2007; Shah et al., 2006; Schutte et al., 2001). What is under researched in this area is what promotes positive changes and key transitions from one phase to the next (Best and Hennessey, 2021).

Recovery Capital

Cloud and Granfield, (2008: 1972) defined recovery capital as 'the sum total of one's resources that can be brought to bear on the initiation and maintenance of substance misuse cessation'. Best and Laudet (2010) further conceptualised recovery capital as consisting of three domains — personal, social and community (or collective) capital. Recovery capital refers to more than an individual's internal qualities or resources, but also incorporates positive social identity, relational supports and networks, as well as the capacity to access, participate and contribute to a range of resources in the community. The three domains help bridge together the agentic (personal) and structural (community) factors involved in drug recovery.

The Pains of Desistance

Research has highlighted similarities between the processes of desistance and drug recovery (Best et al. 2017; Kay and Monaghan 2019). Desistance from crime, akin to drug recovery, requires significant shifts in identity, behaviour and lifestyle to promote integration, contribution and human flourishing (Anderson and McNeill, 2019). Whilst the outcome of desistance, not just living a crime free life, but living a more liberated, meaningful and fulfilled life, is to be celebrated, the process involved has been describes as painful (Patton and Farrall, 2021; Nugent and Schinkel, 2016). Numerous pains of desistance have been identified, from the pains of: goal failure, disappointment and hopelessness, isolation, stigma and exclusion, criminal justice policy and leading a limited life (Shapland and Bottoms, 2011; Farrall et al, 2014; Standing 2011). There are many similarities between the processes of desistance and drug recovery (Best et al. 2017; Kay and Monaghan, 2019). Therefore, this paper attempts to integrate the 'pains of desistance' approach into a recovery capital framework.

Motivations for change: hitting rock bottom and turning points

Evident in the motivations for change based literature is that some sort of a cost/benefit analysis akin to utilitarian theories of deterrence, promote entry to drug recovery from addiction, or from one phase of drug recovery to the next (Brookfield et al., 2019; Hutchison, 2019; Teruya and Hser, 2010; Betty Ford Institute Consensus Panel, 2007; McIntosh and McKegney, 2001). Excessive pain(s) are posited as a necessary motivational push factor for change.

Hitting Rock Bottom

Experiencing a rock bottom moment has also been highlighted as a key explanation for positive change to stop using drugs or to move from one phase of recovery to another (McIntosh and McKegney, 2001).

A rock bottom moment has been described as a defining moment where an individual feels that they cannot continue with their drug use any longer due to experiencing a crisis, painful event(s), dire life circumstances or loss of hope (Kirouac, et al., 2015; Klingemann, 2011). Rock bottom moments

Commented [DP4]: Reviewer 1 What is the issue depicted regarding psychoactive substances? Are you writing about addictive behaviors? Substance use? Substance use disorders? Not really the same topics, with different consequences. I think you need to clarify this rather quickly in the Introduction section.

Do you have standard definition you use for this?

Commented [DP5R4]: I think it is quite clear that we are talking about motivations for change in drug addiction recovery. I have added the word addiction to the title and throughout so that it now generally reads as 'drug addiction recovery' - do you think this is OK?

Commented [DB6R4]: That is fine – add what I have put into the response letter as well

have been highlighted as a key milestone in the recovery process, for example, to begin seeking drug treatment or asking for other help (Kirouac, et al., 2015). Examples of rock bottom moments include a suicide attempt, potential imprisonment, violent threats by a romantic partner, a significant negative health outcome communicated to them by a doctor; physical degradation; threats of being cut off relationally by a loved one; and becoming pregnant ~~or a~~ potential loss of custody of a child (Addison et al., 2020; Hser, et al., 2007; McIntosh and McKegney, 2001). ~~McKi~~Intosh and McKegney, (2001) found that rock bottom moments are even more potent as they are imbued with greater levels of motivation and conviction due to the perception that there is now no alternative but to stop use.

~~Cloud and Granfield's (2008) conceptualisation of negative recovery capital highlights that recovery capital exists on a positive and negative continuum. Negative recovery capital has the opposite effect on recovery progression as compared to recovery capital. Negative forms of recovery capital (usually in the form of negative events, factors, experiences, forces or pains) include things such as criminal justice involvement, age, poor physical and mental health. This body of research suggests that negative factors and forces act as obstacles that slow down or derail recovery progress. Cloud and Granfield's conceptualisation of negative recovery capital stand in contrast to the studies discussed above, which suggest that rock bottom moments provide a push momentum that creates positive change. Further, McKintosh and McKegney, (2001) found that rock bottom moments are even more potent as they are imbued with greater levels of motivation and conviction due to the perception that there is now no alternative but to stop use.~~

Turning points

Interest in motivations for change as a means for positive behavioural and/or identity change has also been explored in the desistance literature (Sampson and Laub, 2003; Giordano, et al., 2002) and have been referred to as turning points, hooks for change, and disorienting episodes (Schinkel, 2019, Sampson and Laub, 2005; Girodano et al., 2002).

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm

Clausen (1995) distinguishes four types of turning points, a change in a specific role a person embodies, a change in perspective or outlook, a change in life direction or goals, or a change in self-concept. Turning points may be produced by a short term or long-term dynamic, situations or events (Brookfield et al., 2019). ~~They and~~ can relate specifically to a single event or abrupt change (e.g., an adverse drug effect, being sent to prison, a sudden change to their health), or to incremental changes over time (e.g. changes within a significant romantic or familial relationship) (Hser, et al., 2007; Hutchison, 2019; Teruya and Hser, 2010). Further, turning points may occur due to a positive experience or event (e.g., the news of pregnancy, gaining employment), or as a result of a negative experience or event (e.g., a bereavement, loss of employment), or as a result of increased awareness and may then produce a key decisive shift in behaviour, envisioned future and/or identity (Addison et al., 2020; Teruya and Hser, 2010). The outcome of turning points are bi-directional which can either further entrench dire life circumstances and drug use, or may lead to a positive progression towards increased well-being and human flourishing. Regardless, of the resultant direction produced, it is a dynamic, complex and nuanced process of change infused with layers of meaning and interpretation (Schinkel, 2019). Ultimately, whether something becomes a turning point is determined by the individual and the meaning they (as well as potentially others) apply to the turning point (Teruya and Hser, 2010).

Whilst turning points may produce changes at the level of behaviour, they can also act as key facilitators to identity change (McIntosh and McKeganey, 2001; Biernacki, 1986). Biernacki (1986) found that the decision to stop using drugs can often occur when there is a conflict of identities because of the event or experience relating to the turning point. McIntosh and McKeganey, (2001) highlighted the need to repair a 'spoiled identity' that contained characteristics that they come to regard as unacceptable to themselves and others. They went on to add that this was rarely sufficient ~~by~~ itself but needed to be accompanied by a vision of a renewed future. These studies highlight the significant role identity plays as a potent mechanism for behavioural change.

Despite such findings, Patton et al. (2022) have recently questioned the role of pains as motivational push factors for positive change in drug recovery. They found that a range of pull factors were more prominent effective in promoting positive changes from early to stable recovery phases. They identified a range of pull factors and forces that helped promote positive identity and behavioural changes related to the CHIME model (which stands for Connectedness; Hope; Identity; Meaning and Empowerment (Leamy et al., 2011)). The model relates to positive social capital and connections to the community, a sense of hope and vision about their future, the development of new and positive identities, a sense of agency and empowerment through the discovery of meaning and purpose and community service. These factors and forces pulled a person forward person forward in their journey towards well-being, human development and flourishing. Whereas push factors tended to relate to a range of pains of recovery or barriers which rather than acting as a tipping point to move away from the negative experiences and thereby prompting positive changes, they instead thwarted recovery.

Drug Recovery

As the motivations for change literature discussed above has highlighted, drug addiction recovery is a long term personal, dynamic and nuanced process of change. It involves fundamental shifts to identity, behaviour and lifestyle as well as promoting human growth, well-being, reintegration and active participation in society (Betty Ford Institute Consensus Group, 2007; UK Drug Policy Commission, 2008). The Recovery Science Research Collaborative define recovery as 'an individualized, intentional, dynamic, and relational process involving sustained efforts to improve wellness' (Ashford, et al. 2019: 5). Definitions of drug recovery have evolved with earlier definitions of recovery tending to be more focussed on abstinence. Whereas more recent definitions, such as those advocated here, incorporate notions of increased control over substance use, growth and improvements in well-being and a range of life domains (Martinelli et al., 2020).

Clearly the dynamics of recovery change at different stages of recovery. The Betty Ford Institute Consensus Panel (2007) identified that a person moves through different stages or phases during drug recovery. They highlighted how the stability of recovery improves over time. The three key stages are

Commented [DB7]: I think you need to move this to much earlier in the article

early recovery (which refers to the first year of recovery), sustained recovery (refers to years 1–5 of recovery), and stable recovery (refers to 5 or more years of recovery). Other studies also indicate that the likelihood of stable recovery is greatly improved with longer periods of abstinence (Vaillant, 2012; Hser et al., 2007; Shah et al., 2006; Schutte et al., 2001). Further, Dennis et al., (2014) has found that it takes around five years before recovery can be considered ‘self-sustaining’. What is under-researched in this area is what promotes positive changes and key transitions from one phase to the next (Best and Hennessey, 2021). Recovery capital is posited as the means by which people in recovery make positive, continual progress in their journey (Cloud and Granfield, 2008).

Commented [DB8]: More the measure than the means – it is not a mechanism in its own right

Recovery Capital

Cloud and Granfield, (2008: 1972) defined recovery capital as ‘the sum total of one’s resources that can be brought to bear on the initiation and maintenance of substance misuse cessation’. Best and Laudet (2010) further conceptualised recovery capital as consisting of three domains – personal, social and community (or collective) capital. Recovery capital refers to more than an individual’s internal qualities or resources. It also incorporates positive social identity, relational supports and networks, as well as the capacity to access, participate and contribute to a range of resources in the community. The three domains help bridge together the agentic (personal) and structural (community) factors involved in drug recovery. However, it is known that recovery is not a linear or wholly positive experience, and that pains and barriers are experienced along the way (Best et al., 2021). The three domains help bridge together the agentic (personal) and structural (community) factors involved in drug recovery.

Formatted: Font color: Auto

Commented [DB9]: This is interesting and possibly merits expanding upon

Formatted: Font: Bold

Cloud and Granfield’s (2008) conceptualisation of negative recovery capital highlights that recovery capital exists on a positive to and negative continuum. Negative recovery capital has the opposite effect on recovery progression as compared to recovery capital. Negative forms of recovery capital (usually in the form of negative events, factors, experiences, forces or pains) include things such as criminal justice involvement, age, poor physical and mental health. This body of research suggests that negative factors and forces act as obstacles that slow down or derail recovery progress. Cloud and Granfield’s

Commented [DB10]: I tend to argue that one is not just the reversal of the other

conceptualisation of negative recovery capital therefore stand in contrast to the studies discussed above, which suggest that rock bottom moments provide a push momentum that creates positive change.

The Pains of Desistance

Research has highlighted similarities between the processes of desistance and drug recovery (Best et al. 2017; Kay and Monaghan 2019). Desistance from crime, akin to drug recovery, requires significant shifts in identity, behaviour and lifestyle to promote integration, contribution and human flourishing (Anderson and McNeill, 2019). Whilst the outcome of desistance of living a more liberated, meaningful and fulfilled life, and not just a crime free life, is to be celebrated, the process involved has been describes as painful (Patton and Farrall, 2021; Nugent and Schinkel, 2016). Numerous pains of desistance have been identified, from the pains of: goal failure, disappointment and hopelessness, isolation, stigma and exclusion, criminal justice policy and leading a limited life (Shapland and Bottoms, 2011; Farrall et al, 2014; Standing 2011). There are many similarities between the processes of desistance and drug recovery (Best et al. 2017; Kay and Monaghan, 2019) and therefore it is suggested that there are numerous pains of drug addiction recovery.

Commented [DB11]: This should come straight after the previous section on pains – the gap makes the introduction disjointed (and probably too long) – I think this could be integrated in – not sure this is the best final paragraph before the rationale

Rationale

~~Painful life events and negative life circumstances have been highlighted as being instrumental for change in drug recovery.~~ This paper attempts to integrate the ‘pains of desistance’ approach into a recovery capital framework ~~(Nugent and Schinkel, 2016) framework~~ to highlight those aspects of the recovery journey that are negative, painful and act as barriers ~~to thwarting recovery.~~ ~~As well as to explore the role of push and pull factors at turning points in drug addiction recovery.~~ The ‘pains’ of recovery are ‘negative factors and forces that act either as barriers that impede a person’s capacity to overcome substance misuse problems ~~(or negative factors and forces that are used by the individual as a means or motivation to make positive change)~~’ (Patton, et al., 2022: 2). A push factor on the other hand, occurs when the pain of recovery in the form of a negative obstacle to the accrual of recovery

capital, is utilised as a positive motivational force for positive behavioural or identity change. Pull factors and forces are considered to be strengths, assets and resources or forms of recovery capital that help propel, accelerate or pull a person forward on their recovery journey. They oftentimes relate to the CHIME model.

Whilst both recovery capital and forms of negative recovery capital or barriers to recovery have been explored, they have not been explored as push and pull factors for change and the tendency within studies has been to examine these separately, with some recent exceptions (Patton et al., 2022; Best et al., 2021). To attempt addressing some of these gaps, we use the life-narratives of those in recovery to explore both the pains of recovery (potential push factors) alongside different forms of recovery capital (pull factors) at key stages or points of change in the recovery journey to permit a more comprehensive insight into the recovery journey and to explore how they act as motivators, facilitators or as obstacles for positive change. We will firstly identify which pains of recovery (potential push factors) are present and -wand- which strengths, resources and assets (pull factors) are present, within the three domains (of personal, social and community recovery capital), at key points of change, the getting started in early recovery phase and at key turning points in the recovery journey. Secondly, we will explore whether and how the pains of recovery act as push motivational factors, and whether and how pull factors act as a pull motivational factors pull motivational factors for positive change.

Formatted: Font color: Red

Methods

The paper uses a life narrative approach to the analysis of 30 people in recovery. A stratified sample of 15 males and 15 females (n = 30) was gained from the English and Scottish participants of the REC-PATH study. The REC-PATH European study included participants from England, Scotland, Belgium and the Netherlands, although only the UK qualitative interviews are included in this analysis. It explored drug recovery pathways using mixed methods (see Best, et al. 2018, for a full methodological outline of the REC-PATH study). 28 respondents had participated in a baseline and follow-up assessment survey as part of the REC-PATH study (the remaining two participants completed either the baseline or the follow-up assessment survey) and were invited to participate in a follow up interview.

The respondents were mainly White (27 were White, 2 were Asian and 1 was Black). 29 respondents were in the stable recovery phase and 1 respondent was regarded to be in the sustained recovery phase (Betty Ford Institute Consensus Panel 2007). The sample ranged in age, with 2 respondents aged 30 – 39, 17 respondents aged 40 – 49, 8 respondents aged 50 – 59 and 3 respondents aged 60 – 69). Heroin (22 respondents), Alcohol (21 respondents), Cocaine/Crack (13 respondents, 8 and 5 respondents respectively) and prescription medications (5 respondents) were the substances that were highlighted as resulting in addictive patterns of substance use and behaviours. The respondents reported use of several different mechanisms of recovery support during their recovery journeys. 12-step mutual aid groups were most commonly utilised at some point during their recovery journey and were used by 17 respondents; other peer-based recovery support services were used by 6 respondents; community-based treatment (including substitute prescribing) was used by 11 respondents; residential treatment (including residence in a Therapeutic Community) 15 respondents; and natural recovery was used by 1 respondent.

A life narrative approach was used throughout the interviews to allow ~~an~~the exploration of trajectories, transitions and turning points in the life course ~~to be explored~~ (Hser et al., 2007). This approach permits the embodied lived experience of the individual to be shared, including the meanings of events at different stages and phases of their life course (Squire et al. 2014), whilst also understanding the socio-historical and cultural contexts in they are occurring (Striano 2012). A semi-structured interview was used in which participants were asked to describe key events and turning points around key stages of their life:

1. **Active addiction career:** What have been the key phases of your life before starting your recovery journey?
2. **Early attempts at recovery:** What initiated your recovery journey? Please describe your early attempts in your recovery journey.
3. **Final and successful change attempt:** What would you say contributed to your final attempt?

Commented [DP12]: David do you think I should put this info into a table - sample characteristics? Age, gender, ethnicity, stage of recovery, mechanism of support etc.

Also another small query but Rereviewer 1 asks: Why was only UK data analysed here and not other countries?

Commented [DP13R12]: Reviewer 1: I noted that your data only cover first stages of recovery. Did you collect data on other stages of this process?

I was just going to respond in my letter to say yes and provide the citation to the published article rather than add a sentence in the article saying you can read more about the early phase and stable phase?

Formatted: No bullets or numbering

Commented [DP14R12]: Reviewer 2 mentions - Please specify the place of induction in the analyses. Not sure what this means?

Commented [DP15]: Shall I also present all the info in this para relating to the sample etc in a table?

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: 12 pt

Commented [DB16]: I would try to integrate all the previous REC-PATH publications into this paragraph if you can

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Commented [DP17]: Reviewer 1: it could be useful to have some details regarding which questions were asked to participants (to know which topics were covered, or not).

I pulled out the pervious questions from the transcripts but could not see one relating to this - not sure if this sounds a bit awkward.

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

4. **Sustaining Early recovery:** What things have helped you sustain your recovery?

Formatted: Font: Bold

5. **Recovery experiences at the time of interview:** What would you say makes life meaningful for you today? What is your life like now?

Formatted: Font: Bold

6. **Future directions and plans:** What does recovery mean to you now? What does the future hold for you? (Best, 2014).

Formatted: Font: Bold

Commented [DB18]: For length reasons, maybe have this as an appendix – just trying to manage the length

~~The interviews permitted an exploration of the participant's journey to recovery, their experiences of professional and peer support, and their understanding of the key components that supported their recovery or acted as barriers to achieving their goals.~~ The interviews were conducted by telephone by the second author between September 2019 to March 2020 and lasted between 45 and 75 minutes. The interviewer typed up their responses during the interview, ~~and sent the transcripts to each participant so they could check they were happy with the contents and to ensure that the interviewer had been accurate in transcribing.~~ In terms of ethnicity, 27 respondents were White, two were Asian and one was Black. ~~Almost all respondents (29) were regarded to be in the stable recovery phase and one respondent was classified as in the sustained recovery phase (Betty Ford Institute Consensus Panel 2007).~~

A priori qualitative thematic analysis was undertaken with the lifecourse interview transcripts (Brooks et al., 2015) using a typology of recovery capital that builds on the Best and Laudet (2010) model that explored themes at different recovery stages. Existing themes identified in the recovery capital, negative recovery, and pains of desistance literature as a starting framework for analysis using NVIVO qualitative software. NVIVO is a software package that allows the researcher to store, organize, and systematically analyse their qualitative data (QSR International 2022). ~~During the coding process an additional theme emerged that was not identified in the literature whilst reading and re-reading the transcripts. The pains of subcultural identity and paradigms which related to not knowing how to navigate a new sense of self and the world following sobriety.~~ Table 1 presents the themes discussed by the respondents at key transition phases of their journey. ~~It includes:~~ the 'getting started' in early recovery phase and at key turning points within their recovery journey to explore the push and pull motivations for change through the pains of recovery and recovery capital. ~~Inter-rater judge agreement~~

was checked at various points throughout the coding and analysis process, co-authors two and three who had conducted the interviews reviewed various iterations of the coding frame and related analysis of the emergent themes throughout the coding and analysis process. Further, once a round of ~~when the coding and~~ analysis ~~had been~~ were completed, the authors shared the findings with the respondents (as well as to others in recovery) to explore resonance and validity to the respondents' experiences. Respondents' feedback affirmed the validity of the analysis conducted.

Commented [DB19]: You have said only me above – consistency?

Where is table 1???

Results: Motivations for change during the recovery journey

The results presented below uses the life-narratives of those in recovery at key points of change and transition in the 'getting started' in recovery phase and at key turning at various -points in their recovery journey. The results present the lived experience of the pains of recovery (potential push factors) alongside different forms of recovery capital (pull factors) to permit a more comprehensive insight into the recovery journey. The results also present findings as to how push and pull factors and forces act as motivators, facilitators or as obstacles for positive change. Please note that pseudonyms have been used for all respondents in the quotations presented below. The results section begins with a discussion of the ten themes as they relate to the 'getting started' in recovery phase. In section two of the results, the seven themes that relate to key turning points in the respondents' recovery journeys are discussed. Finally in section three, we begin to illustrate how the turning points appear to be antidotes to the pains of recovery experienced earlier in the 'getting started' phase of recovery.

Seven turning points are presented below using a recovery capital framework. Five of the turning points were regarded as pull factors, one was regarded as a pain of recovery (a push factor), and the remaining turning point was both a pull factor for some, and a push factor for others.

1. 'Getting started' in early recovery

- Formatted: Font: Not Bold
- Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Bold
- Formatted: Font: Bold
- Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Bold
- Formatted: Font: Bold
- Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Bold
- Formatted: Font: Bold
- Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Bold

Table 1 presents an overview of all the pains of recovery, push and pull factors identified in the 'getting started' phase of recovery and also at turning points within the recovery journey using a recovery capital framework. The 'getting started' in the early recovery was a chaotic phase of life and a key time of transition and change in the respondent's life course. Consequently, respondents did not identify any forms of recovery capital or pull factors in the 'getting started' in early recovery phase, and as a result, the first column in Table 1 is blank. However, ten pains of recovery were discussed by respondents in the 'getting started' phase.

Table 1 here:

The Pains of 'getting started' in early recovery

Personal Capital:

The pains of a lack of responsibility

Respondents shared about developing a self-centred existence due to their addictive patterns of drug use and reflected on having a more carefree existence around conventional responsibilities and of having no responsibilities. Dan reflected, 'I thought I was in the Rolling Stones. I felt completely disconnected from life and I had no responsibility for anything.' Similarly, Yuri stated, 'I never paid bills, I never paid taxes, I was horrible.' Anne described her outlook in the addiction phase, 'I had nothing to live for...I had no responsibility and my using got worse.' Overall, parental responsibilities or the envisioning of being a mum was a key antidote to their lack of purpose and responsibilities in the addiction phase. However, for the men, gaining responsibilities at work was often the antidote to their lack of purpose and responsibilities in the addiction phase (as discussed below under community capital).

The pains of childhood trauma

Childhood trauma was common amongst the respondents. Key turning points occurred as many of them began to deal with and heal their childhood trauma. Ray observed that 'when the initial trauma

Commented [DP20]: Shall I link to your study that shows that recovery capital is low in early recovery? If so, what is the citations please?

Commented [DB21R20]: 1.I would just use the first SABRS paper here - Best, D., Vanderplasschen, W. & Nisic, M. (2020) Measuring capital in active addiction and recovery: The development of the Strengths And Barriers Recovery Scale (SABRS). *Substance Abuse, Treatment, Policy and Prevention* (early online)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold

happened as a child, I cut off all feelings, and nicotine as a drug assisted me in staying numb so did alcohol and all the drugs I used. Knowing this was freeing.’ For some the realisation of the connection between their drug addiction and the childhood trauma came during ‘a session one day, I was misbehaving in the group, and the facilitator asked why I had used every day for 25 years. I had no idea why...It kind of set me free and that maybe this wasn’t just my fault’ (Mark).

The pains of unemployment, menial jobs and maintaining existing roles

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Most of the sample in the getting started period of early recovery phase were unemployed or were in menial roles they disliked. Luke expressed how *‘there is a real challenge for getting meaningful work.’* Mark had, *‘been unemployed for a long time.’* Similarly, Anne, *‘wasn’t working at the time.’* Respondents also worked in menial jobs, Alice shared that she had, *‘a cleaning job through my neighbours, cleaning new buildings on a building site. I struggled with money and was on benefits.’*

Being in recovery impacted upon respondents’ capacity to work at times. Amy explained that she *‘was still employed but signed off sick.’* Supportive managers and colleagues were instrumental in helping some respondents remain in existing employment roles. Ed explained that *‘I hung onto my job by a thread and would probably have been sacked if I had a different manager.’*

Pains of purposeless and hopelessness

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

In addition to the pains of leading a life without conventional responsibilities (discussed above), a key feature of getting started in early recovery was a sense of hopelessness which had a profoundly debilitating and stagnating effect on **attempting to build** personal and community capital. The lack of purpose resulted in a lack of vision which in turn created a sense of hopelessness about themselves and stymied a desire for something better. Yosef reflected that at that time he couldn’t *‘recall a time where I experienced a sense of hope.’* Elizabeth felt that her *‘life had no meaning or purpose...I was just going through the motions of being alive’* and Amy recalled that she, *‘wanted to be dead’* as she felt she had no purpose or direction in life.

The pains of subcultural paradigms of life and navigating a new terrain

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Personal recovery capital was low in early recovery as evidenced by subcultural understandings of living and their search for a new view of themselves, the world and how to navigate it, as they experienced sobriety. Mutual aid groups increased participants awareness of their 'subcultural lens' on life. Eric felt that he was an expert in drugs and how to use them *'but I knew nothing about living without using drugs.'* Ellie further observed *'I had to learn everything new.'* Sam reflected, he *'had no reference point'* and didn't know anyone who lived a *'straight life'* and so questioned *'What does a decent person do when faced with these circumstances? I was in the dark about what a straight person would do.'* The search for answers, and new ways of understanding and navigating life were apparent and a cause of pain, discomfort and vulnerability.

The pains of trying to stop drug use

Formatted: Font: Bold

Relapse was a common feature, especially in early recovery. The road to sobriety was not a straight or simple one. Zoe observed that she could remain abstinent for a week but then *'I would go on benders.'* Similarly, Emily remembered how *'I would give myself any excuse to pick up again.'* Yuri also *'tried to come off Class A but I didn't have the tools to maintain any recovery.'* Most of the respondents tried drug treatment as part of their recovery. Yoel shared that *'I found that treatment was often very rigid and didn't often mirror the chaos of my lifestyle. If I turned up 15 minutes late, I wouldn't be seen. If that happened 2-3 times I would have to restart.'* Yosef reflected on his initial relapses, *'I had my first in-patient detox for alcohol and methadone, I think I lasted three days then self-discharged and went back to the community where I was dying, and I died a little bit more.'* Luke had attempted to give up heroin, *'The first time I went into a clinical detox unit was when I was 32 but I only managed to stay relatively substance free for about 7 months.'* Some respondents recognised that they were not ready for drug treatment in this phase, Harriet explains, *'When I went back into prison one of the options was rehab on a court order, I thought this was a good idea, and I thought I would treat this as a holiday and then go back out and use again. At that stage, I wasn't emotionally mature enough to get a grasp.'* The pains of relapse impacted on the levels of hope the respondents had that they could ever make the changes they desired relating to their patterns of drug use and broader lifestyle changes.

Social Capital:

The pains of romantic relationships

Negative and violent relationships were a central feature of romantic relationships in the addiction phase and early recovery phase. Emily explained how her relationship progressed very quickly with violent repercussions, *'I met a bloke and we left [rehabilitation] ...it was a classic... but when he started using again, he became very violent.'* Similarly, Holly explained that her partner, *'was a complete and utter twat, violent and nasty, he broke my ribs.'* Anne also shared that her partner *'was very violent, very controlling and manipulative.'* In most cases the violent relationships lasted for many years and had a profound, traumatic and destabilising impact on their lives which also thwarted their capacity to make progress in drug recovery.

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

The pains of subcultural networks, loneliness, and isolation

As respondents entered recovery, they began to reflect and reassess existing friendships and social networks. A key realisation was that their friendships largely consisted of others who used or sold drugs. Abbie realised how she *'was always hanging out with people who used drugs.'* Holly reached a similar conclusion and *'started to cut off. The only people that I had contact with was the dealers thinking they were my friends, but it was only making things worse. So, I started to delete their numbers and not go to those areas anymore.'*

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

The process of re-evaluation was difficult for many and led to the pains of social isolation and loneliness. This required respondents to proactively act to create new social networks, new friendships and to reorient their lifestyle exploring new locations whilst also avoiding old relationships and places.

The pains of low school attainment at school and stigma in the workplace

Education had not always been a positive experience or outcome in terms of gaining qualifications for many in the sample. Harriet reflected that *'I did a crap job with most of my school exams. I went to*

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Grammar school...I didn't do well at school. The only GCSE I got was in food tech and that was partly because my mum taught it.' Subsequently a large number of respondents returned to education during their recovery to help acquire qualifications to help them gain employment, gain status and legitimate identities.

The pains of stigma in the workplace

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Another key motivator for the return to education was due to experiencing stigma in the workplace. Abbie shared that, 'having worked in treatment for so long, I am tired of being patted on the head for being another ex-addict and that is why I am doing a PhD.' Yosef shared the reason why he 'did lots of qualifications, and was a bit of a training junkie' was because he felt inferior to those he was working with at a senior level in his organisation.

The pains of subcultural paradigms of life and navigating a new terrain

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Personal recovery capital was low in early recovery as evidenced by subcultural understandings of living and their search for a new view of themselves, the world and how to navigate it, as they experienced sobriety. Mutual aid groups increased participants awareness of their 'subcultural lens' on life. Eric felt that he was an expert in drugs and how to use them 'but I knew nothing about living without using drugs.' Ellie further observed 'I had to learn everything new.' Sam reflected, he 'had no reference point' and didn't know anyone who lived a 'straight life' and so questioned 'What does a decent person do when faced with these circumstances? I was in the dark about what a straight person would do.' The search for answers, and new ways of understanding and navigating life were apparent and a cause of pain, discomfort and vulnerability.

The pains of trying to stop drug use

Formatted: Font: Bold

Relapse was a common feature, especially in early recovery. The road to sobriety was not a straight or simple one. Zoe observed that she could remain abstinent for a week but then 'I would go on benders.' Similarly, Emily remembered how 'I would give myself any excuse to pick up again.' Yuri also 'tried to come off Class A but I didn't have the tools to maintain any recovery.' Most of the respondents tried

drug treatment as part of their recovery. Yoel shared that 'I found that treatment was often very rigid and didn't often mirror the chaos of my lifestyle. If I turned up 15 minutes late, I wouldn't be seen. If that happened 2-3 times I would have to restart.' Yosef reflected on his initial relapses, 'I had my first inpatient detox for alcohol and methadone, I think I lasted three days then self-discharged and went back to the community where I was dying, and I died a little bit more.' Luke had attempted to give up heroin, 'The first time I went into a clinical detox unit was when I was 32 but I only managed to stay relatively substance free for about 7 months.' Some respondents recognised that they were not ready for drug treatment in this phase. Harriet explains, 'When I went back into prison one of the options was rehab on a court order. I thought this was a good idea, and I thought I would treat this as a holiday and then go back out and use again. At that stage, I wasn't emotionally mature enough to get a grasp.' The pains of relapse impacted on the levels of hope the respondents had that they could ever make the changes they desired relating to their patterns of drug use and broader lifestyle changes.

Formatted: Font: Bold

Getting started in the early recovery phase was a key time of transition and change in the respondent's life course. It was a chaotic phase of life, and eleven themes or pains of recovery were identified in this phase. The eleven pains of recovery that emerged from the getting started in the early phase of recovery related directly to each of the seven turning points (see Table 2). Each turning point discussed below, presents the pains of recovery from the early recovery phase that relate to it.

2. Turning Points in the recovery journey

Formatted: Font: Bold, Font color: Auto

The seven themes that the respondents discussed as key turning points in their recovery journey are presented below using a recovery capital framework. Five of the turning points were regarded as pull factors, one was regarded as a pain of recovery (a push factor), and the remaining turning point was both a pull factor for some respondents, and a pain (push factor) for ~~the~~ others. Each heading also denotes if this factor was a push or pull factor or both at the end of the heading.

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Personal Capital:

Personal Capital

Parental responsibility: the antidote to just living for oneself

The pains of a lack of responsibility

Respondents shared about developing a self-centred existence due to their addictive patterns of drug use and reflected on having a more carefree existence around conventional responsibilities and of having no responsibilities. Dan reflected, *'I thought I was in the Rolling Stones. I felt completely disconnected from life and I had no responsibility for anything.'* Similarly, Yuri stated, *'I never paid bills, I never paid taxes, I was horrible.'* Anne described her outlook in the addiction phase, *'I had nothing to live for... I had no responsibility and my using got worse.'* Overall, it seems that for the females in the sample, parental responsibilities and what they envisioned being a mum would be like for them was in part at least a key antidote to their lack of responsibilities in the addiction phase, whereas for men, gaining responsibilities at work was the antidote to their lack of responsibilities in the addiction phase (as discussed below under community capital).

Turning point: Becoming pregnant and being a mother

Parental responsibility was a key motivational reason to want to become abstinent and enter recovery. For three of the mums (Holly, Abbie and Isobel) becoming pregnant and their conceptualisation of the mum that they wanted to be and the life they wanted to afford their child helped to pull them onwards into recovery. Whereas for the remaining three mums (Ellie, Amelia and Anne), their negative experiences and circumstances acted more as a rock-bottom type moment that pushed them into recovery.

Becoming pregnant was a key motivator for change for Holly, *'I was about 30 and I was in a violent relationship. He was using and weirdly I planned to have a child. I wanted to be clean myself if I wanted to be a mum. When I did get pregnant that was the motivation for me to stop.'* Similarly, for Abbie, *'I*

Formatted: Font: Bold, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

found out I was pregnant...It was the straw that broke the camel's back...I saw the life I was living through a child's eyes, this is far too violent and dirty and horrible to be a childhood....I did a 10 day DF detox, and my daughter was born in March 1998, and I never used again.' For Isobel becoming pregnant also sparked other key transitions, *"I fell pregnant, got a mortgage, and moved into my own house."*

Rock bottom moments acted as a push motivation for change for three of the six respondents related to this turning point. For Ellie the goal of abstinence was initially more of a struggle, *'I was already 6 months pregnant when I found out I was pregnant...[social services] went straight for adoption. It was then that I had to stop. I was a heroin user and alcoholic...I tried to stop but I couldn't. I ended up in a hospital having my son and social services took him away from me. The solicitor said either you keep using and give up your son or you stop using and you keep him. This was the point I decided to change.'*

Being a mother was also a key motivator for change after experiencing rock bottom moments for some. Amelia described a key turning point for her when she realised, she risked losing the relationship she had with her children, *'I went into blackout and ruined the holiday, and when we came back my middle son came and sat on the side of the bed and said, 'if you keep drinking, me and the brothers are going to cut you out of our lives.' I knew that he meant it. For me that was my line in the sand.'* Anne shared her traumatic experiences, and ultimately it was the impact on her children that was the catalyst for change, *'My life was at risk, my partner had kept me hostage for three days in the living room. He threatened to chop my head off and then kill himself. I could not live this life anymore. I did not want the kids to see their dad kill their mum, that was the lightbulb moment.'*

~~Beginning to heal: the antidote to childhood trauma~~

Childhood trauma was common amongst the respondents. Key turning points occurred as many of them began to deal with and heal their childhood trauma. Ray observed that *'when the initial trauma happened as a child, I cut off all feelings, and nicotine as a drug assisted me in staying numb so did alcohol and all the drugs I used. Knowing this was freeing.'* For some the realisation of the connection

~~between their drug addiction and the childhood trauma came during 'a session one day, I was misbehaving in the group, and the facilitator asked why I had used every day for 25 years. I had no idea why...It kind of set me free and that maybe this wasn't just my fault' (Mark).~~

Turning point: Healing trauma and the emergence of new identities (pull factor)

Lily stated that recovery had meant 'healing and coming back to her true self.' Isabel described how she 'was broken down and then rebuilt. It was the worst and best experience of my life.' Healing events in childhood was key for Amy who realised that 'there was all this stuff I blocked out' but went on to have 'therapy to heal my childhood trauma.' Harriet reflected on her journey and was able to create a new sense of self identity as a result, she said, 'I created a separation from 'that person' that I used to be ... There was a flip in my mindset about who I am.' The healing process enabled respondents to create new ~~identities, and~~ identities and begin to create new lifestyle and behavioural changes that permitted recovery capital to be built upon.

Discovering purpose and strengths: the antidote to hopelessness and lack of meaningful direction

~~Discovering purpose, a core skill set, and a set of signature strengths through employment opportunities was one of the biggest turning points for many in the sample, especially male respondents. This pull factor was the antidote to the pains of responsibility (discussed above), the pains of unemployment or menial jobs and the pains of purposelessness and hopelessness. This pull factor alone helped to accelerate progress in recovery as it also provided legitimate replacement identities, a sense of affirmation and acceptance. As well as increases to financial capital it offered access and participation in new esteemed spaces within the work sphere and new self perceptions and identities.~~

~~The pains of unemployment, menial jobs and maintaining existing roles.~~

~~Most of the sample in the getting started period of early recovery phase were unemployed or were in menial roles they disliked. Luke expressed how 'there is a real challenge for getting meaningful work.' Mark had, 'been unemployed for a long time.' Similarly, Anne, 'wasn't working at the time.'~~

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold

~~Respondents also worked in menial jobs. Alice shared that she had, 'a cleaning job through my neighbours, cleaning new buildings on a building site. I struggled with money and was on benefits.'~~

~~Being in recovery impacted upon respondents' capacity to work at times. Amy explained that she 'was still employed but signed off sick.' Supportive managers and colleagues were instrumental in helping some respondents remain in existing employment roles. Ed explained that 'I hung onto my job by a thread and would probably have been sacked if I had a different manager.'~~

Pains of purposeless and hopelessness

~~In addition to the pains of leading a life without conventional responsibilities (discussed above), a key feature of getting started in early recovery was a sense of hopelessness which had a profoundly debilitating and stagnating effect on personal and community capital. The lack of purpose resulted in a lack of vision which in turn created a sense of hopelessness about themselves and stymied a desire for something better. Yosef reflected that at that time he couldn't 'recall a time where I experienced a sense of hope.' Elizabeth felt that her 'life had no meaning or purpose...I was just going through the motions of being alive' and Amy recalled that she, 'wanted to be dead' as she felt she had no purpose or direction in life.~~

Turning point: Finding purpose and being promoted (pull factor)

Employment provided a space for the discovery of purpose, a core skill set and the expression of strengths. Such discoveries acted as key turning points and were inextricably linked to advancements in the recovery journey and for stabilising abstinence. They ~~also over time~~ were also linked to gaining promotions, finding fulfilling work, financial reward and climbing the career ladder. The male respondents in the sample were more likely to talk about the importance of discovering purpose. Recognition and increased levels of responsibility at work were key vehicles and validations sphere where the males in the sample.

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Gaining a sense of purpose through employment was key for many. Dan shared how his workplace has been a key source of affirmation and provided him with his purpose following two successive promotions after returning to work following a long period of absence due to his recovery. He felt his work had *'cemented my self-esteem...it has given me a real sense of purpose.'* Mark similarly discovered through his work *'for the first time I had a real sense of purpose. I had a real sense of ownership and pride to me and to my self-esteem. It was the feeling that I can do something.'* Sam recalled a time at a drug recovery conference as a newly appointed Recovery Coach how, *'It set the hairs on the back of my neck going...that was the first time it gave definition to what I wanted to do with my own life and what we were trying to set up.'*

Becoming pregnant and being a mother (push and pull factor)

Parental responsibility was a key motivational reason to want to become abstinent and enter recovery amongst six of the females in the sample. For three of the mothers in the sample (Holly, Abbie and Isobel) becoming pregnant and their conceptualisation of the mum that they wanted to be and the life they wanted to afford their child helped to pull them onwards into recovery. Whereas for the other three mums (Ellie, Amelia and Anne), their negative experiences and circumstances acted more as a rock bottom type moment that pushed them into recovery.

Becoming pregnant was a key motivator for change for Holly, *'I was about 30 and I was in a violent relationship. He was using and weirdly I planned to have a child. I wanted to be clean myself if I wanted to be a mum. When I did get pregnant that was the motivation for me to stop.'* Similarly, for Abbie, *'I found out I was pregnant...It was the straw that broke the camel's back...I saw the life I was living through a child's eyes, this is far too violent and dirty and horrible to be a childhood. ...I did a 10-day DF detox, and my daughter was born in March 1998, and I never used again.'* For Isobel becoming pregnant also sparked other key transitions, *"I fell pregnant, got a mortgage, and moved into my own house."*

Rock bottom moments acted as a push motivation for change for three of the six respondents related to this turning point. For Ellie the goal of abstinence was initially more of a struggle, 'I was already 6 months pregnant when I found out I was pregnant...[social services] went straight for adoption. It was then that I had to stop. I was a heroin user and alcoholic...I tried to stop but I couldn't. I ended up in a hospital having my son and social services took him away from me. The solicitor said either you keep using and give up your son or you stop using and you keep him. This was the point I decided to change.'

Being a mother was also a key motivator for change after experiencing rock bottom moments for some. Amelia described a key turning point for her when she realised, she risked losing the relationship she had with her children, 'I went into blackout and ruined the holiday, and when we came back my middle son came and sat on the side of the bed and said, 'if you keep drinking, me and the brothers are going to cut you out of our lives.' I knew that he meant it. For me that was my line in the sand.' Anne shared her traumatic experiences, and ultimately it was the impact on her children that was the catalyst for change, 'My life was at risk, my partner had kept me hostage for three days in the living room. He threatened to chop my head off and then kill himself. I could not live this life anymore. I did not want the kids to see their dad kill their mum, that was the lightbulb moment.'

~~Discovering a sense of purpose and identifying strengths and skills often led to advancements in terms of promotions and seniority. Yusef had a series of promotions once he discovered some of his core skills and strengths, he explained, 'I was a trainee recovery coach. It became pretty clear that I had a talent for group facilitation, psychosocial interventions, care plans, working in a person-centred way, listening and I progressed really quickly to a full-time recovery coach and then a lead recovery coach.'~~ Nathaniel also noted how his discovery of purpose and skill set had led to a series of successive job progressions, he explained that ~~'I got involved in the local group, then intergroup, then national, then international and I am now the national lead for the UK region. The one thing beyond that is joining the world board. I will certainly consider that in the next few years.'~~ Such discoveries resulted in respondents expressing a passion and fulfilment for their jobs, ~~'I love what I do and the biggest part of~~

~~that is that I feel useful, in a way I never have before.' (Yusef), and Sam said that he 'really loved the job' that he was doing.~~

Social capital

Leaving negative and violent relationships (push factor) ~~Leaving Romantic Partners: the antidote to violent and negative relationships~~

Being in a negative, dysfunctional relationship with incidents of domestic violence was commonplace amongst many of the female respondents at the start of their recovery journey. For some, their partner also influenced their use of drugs. The negative effects of such relationships over time became a turning point for the females ~~affected by this~~ to leave the relationship or break the pattern of having multiple partners who had been violent towards them.

The pains of romantic relationships

~~Negative and violent relationships were a central feature of romantic relationships in the addiction phase and early recovery phase. Emily explained how her relationship progressed very quickly with violent repercussions, 'I met a bloke and we left [rehabilitation]...it was a classic... but when he started using again, he became very violent.' Similarly, Holly explained that her partner, 'was a complete and utter twat, violent and nasty, he broke my ribs.' Anne also shared that her partner 'was very violent, very controlling and manipulative.' In most cases the violent relationships lasted for many years and had a profound, traumatic and destabilising impact on their lives which also thwarted their capacity to make progress in drug recovery.~~

Turning point: Leaving negative and violent relationships

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Don't adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Don't adjust space between Asian text and numbers

The effects of leaving a negative, abusive, or violent relationship provided a level of safety and stability that the female respondents had not had previously. Anne shared how she *'got into a really bad relationship. I got married after 6 weeks to someone who was an addict... My partner was quite controlling and was using it over me, he was building up my tolerance so I could not cut down...it was chaotic for 12/13 years until I left.'* Holly shared that she was with her partner, *'for a couple of years, and it ended just after Christmas. After he raped me on Christmas morning'*. In addition, separating from negative relationships also provided the opportunity to create new living environments and lifestyles and one where drugs were not present. Alice shared how she was able to enter recovery after separating from her partner, *'My ex-husband went to jail...one month after separating from him I stopped using drugs and I don't think that's just a coincidence, I do take responsibility for my own using but think I was vulnerable, and he influenced me. He introduced me to heroin.'* Zoe said that she ended the relationship due to her partners ongoing drug use, *'I left him in the end...he still wanted to smoke crack and smoke weed and I came home from work one day and the house was full of teenagers smoking weed. I just thought that I didn't want this.'*

Social networks in mutual aid, education and employment: the antidote to subcultural networks, loneliness and isolation

~~Friendships and social networks gained through mutual aid groups, education and employment provided the antidote to the pains of loneliness and isolation as a result of cutting off old drug using friends and subcultural networks in an attempt to sustain abstinence.~~

The pains of subcultural networks, loneliness, and isolation:

~~As respondents entered recovery, they began to reflect and reassess existing friendships and social networks. A key realisation was that their friendships largely consisted of others who used or sold drugs. Abbie realised how she *'was always hanging out with people who used drugs.'* Holly reached a similar conclusion and *'started to cut off. The only people that I had contact with was the dealers thinking they were my friends, but it was only making things worse. So, I started to delete their numbers and not go to those areas anymore.'*~~

~~The process of re-evaluation was difficult for many and led to the pains of social isolation and loneliness. This required respondents to proactively act to create new social networks, new friendships and to reorient their lifestyle exploring new locations whilst also avoiding old relationships and places.~~

Turning point: Pathways to Social Capital and new social networks (pull factor)

Mutual aid groups were key in providing pathways to social capital and creating new social bonds and friends for life, especially amongst the female respondents. Harriet shared how she *'made some really good friends that meant something to me'* at her meetings. For some, the relationships were stronger than just friendships, Harriet, shared that she felt she *'had gained big brothers'*, and similarly Laura shared how she gained *'a brand-new family'* through her recovery groups. Abbie found that her participation in recovery groups helped her *'start a social life and network, and I am still friends today with some of them.'* Nathaniel felt that *'the support I got in the meetings filled the void of drugs.'*

Returning to education during recovery was also a key turning point as it helped respondents gain new friendships and social networks. Noah observed that *'my social life massively improved. I started making friends at the college who had never known me in my drinking and using days.'* Anne found that when she *'went to college, I have a good group of friends from that, and I am still in contact with lots of them.'*

The workplace also opened up pathways to social capital by providing opportunities for new friendships and social networks. Lily shared that the way she socialises now, *'is with work colleagues.'* Mark explained how his *'social life was built around'* the recovery project he was leading. Eva shared that her work colleagues were there to lift her up and *'the loudest cheer leaders when things go well.'*

Concluding comment on social capital before moving on to the next section

Community Capital

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Returning to education: the antidote to under achievement at school and stigma

Returning to education was a key turning point for those who did not achieve qualifications earlier in life and also helped some overcome stigma at work. It was hoped that attaining qualifications would provide much needed validation in the workplace. Attainment of qualifications increased both personal and community capital through an increased sense of empowerment and identity change linked to CHIME.

The pains of low attainment at school and stigma in the workplace

~~Education had not always been a positive experience or outcome in terms of gaining qualifications for many in the sample. Harriet reflected that 'I did a crap job with most of my school exams. I went to Grammar school...I didn't do well at school. The only GCSE I got was in food tech and that was partly because my mum taught it.' Subsequently a large number of respondents returned to education during their recovery to help acquire qualifications to help them gain employment, gain status and legitimate identities.~~

~~Another key motivator for the return to education was due to experiencing stigma in the workplace. Abbie shared that, 'having worked in treatment for so long, I am tired of being patted on the head for being another ex addict and that is why I am doing a PhD.' Yusef shared the reason why he 'did lots of qualifications, and was a bit of a training junkie' was because he felt inferior to those he was working with at a senior level in his organisation.~~

Returning to education and Turning point: attaining qualifications (pull factor)

Whilst gaining new qualifications wasn't always easy for everyone, almost all of those who returned to education did attain a range of new qualifications. Amy utilised this second chance at education and gave it her all, she said 'I didn't go out of my flat, I studied and ate digestive biscuits, no drinking, no drugs and no life. Zoe also returned to education and 'went to college and did an access course in sociology and I smashed it. And then I went to uni...I spoke to my dissertation supervisor, and he is

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold

now my Ph.D. supervisor.' Attaining qualifications boosted self-esteem and helped construct new legitimate identities. It also increased levels of community capital in relation to the employment roles and career pathways this ~~opened-up~~opened as well as ~~the~~ increased status this afforded them within their workplace and local community.

Fulfilling employment and promotions (pull factor)

Discovering a sense of purpose and identifying strengths and signature skills often led to advancements in terms of promotions and seniority further down the timeline on the respondents' journey. Yosef had a series of promotions once he discovered some of his core skills and strengths, he explained, 'I was a trainee recovery coach. It became pretty clear that I had a talent for group facilitation, psychosocial interventions, care plans, working in a person-centred way, listening and I progressed really quickly to a full-time recovery coach and then a lead recovery coach.' Nathaniel also noted how his discovery of purpose and skill set had led to a series of successive job progressions, he explained that 'I got involved in the local group, then intergroup, then national, then international and I am now the national lead for the UK region. The one thing beyond that is joining the world board. I will certainly consider that in the next few years.' Such discoveries resulted in respondents expressing a passion and fulfilment for their jobs, 'I love what I do and the biggest part of that is that I feel useful, in a way I never have before.' (Yosef), and Sam said that he 'really loved the job' that he was doing.

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Normal (Web), Line spacing: single, Pattern: Clear (White)

Formatted: Font: Bold

Mutual aid groups providing a new lens for living: the antidote to subcultural paradigms and relapse

Mutual aid groups were not only important for access to new groups and social networks, but provided new tools and paradigms for life which acted as a replacement to subcultural paradigms and lifestyles. This new lens for living was an antidote to low levels of personal capital as respondents prior to attending mutual aid groups did not have a paradigm of how to lead a 'conventional lifestyle'. Further,

mutual aid groups were key in eliminating or significantly reducing relapse amongst many within the sample.

The pains of subcultural paradigms of life and navigating a new terrain

Personal recovery capital was low in early recovery as evidenced by subcultural understandings of living and their search for a new view of themselves, the world and how to navigate it, as they experienced sobriety. Mutual aid groups increased participants awareness of their 'subcultural lens' on life. Eric felt that he was an expert in drugs and how to use them 'but I knew nothing about living without using drugs.' Ellie further observed 'I had to learn everything new.' Sam reflected, he 'had no reference point' and didn't know anyone who lived a 'straight life' and so questioned 'What does a decent person do when faced with these circumstances? I was in the dark about what a straight person would do.' The search for answers, and new ways of understanding and navigating life were apparent and a cause of pain, discomfort and vulnerability.

The pains of trying to stop drug use

Relapse was a common feature, especially in early recovery. The road to sobriety was not a straight or simple one. Zoe observed that she could remain abstinent for a week but then 'I would go on benders.' Similarly, Emily remembered how 'I would give myself any excuse to pick up again.' Yuri also 'tried to come off Class A but I didn't have the tools to maintain any recovery.' Most of the respondents tried drug treatment as part of their recovery. Yoel shared that 'I found that treatment was often very rigid and didn't often mirror the chaos of my lifestyle. If I turned up 15 minutes late, I wouldn't be seen. If that happened 2-3 times I would have to restart.' Yusef reflected on his initial relapses, 'I had my first in-patient detox for alcohol and methadone, I think I lasted three days then self discharged and went back to the community where I was dying, and I died a little bit more.' Luke had attempted to give up heroin, 'The first time I went into a clinical detox unit was when I was 32 but I only managed to stay relatively substance free for about 7 months.' Some respondents recognised that they were not ready for drug treatment in this phase, Harriet explains, 'When I went back into prison one of the options was rehab on a court order, I thought this was a good idea, and I thought I would treat this as a holiday

~~and then go back out and use again. At that stage, I wasn't emotionally mature enough to get a grasp.'~~

~~The pains of relapse impacted on the levels of hope the respondents had that they could ever make the changes they desired relating to their patterns of drug use and broader lifestyle changes.~~

Turning point: Mutual aid groups: hope and provide new paradigms and empowering tools for change (pull factor)

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Mutual aid groups offered a fundamental turning point for many in the sample. Whilst respondents had spoken about having periods of abstinence, they described how they struggled to maintain this until they began doing work in a recovery group. Eric described his moment of entering a recovery group and *'when people told me how to stay clean it was like dropping bombs... I was done with using drugs and I just needed someone to show me the way.'* Respondents described that they became equipped to maintain their recovery, Elizabeth described that the process of being equipped was key for her and that her recovery group provided her with a means to navigate life and that had provided her with *'a manual for life.'* Similarly, Emily explained that *'one of the key factors for me was being given this information about myself and about addiction, and what you can do about it.'* Ed reflected that he had, *'No relapse or lapse since first entering the programme. This was down to doing the programme correctly and working hard.'*

The peer contagion of hope

Meeting others in recovery who had made significant changes to their lifestyle including the elimination of drug use was key as it created a contagion of hope as it allowed those getting started in the early recovery phase to have hope that this change was and is possible. Yoel found that *'In the early days, seeing other people with lived experience was a really useful thing to see people who had come out of the other end, who were happy and content with their lives.'* Noah also found hope in hearing people share that *'they hadn't had a drink for months or for years and to me that seemed like a staggering achievement and I just couldn't imagine at the time and it was those two things that kept me coming back. It was that sense of identification with people's sense of hopelessness and that there were people*

there who had stopped.’ Similarly, for Nathaniel, ‘When I started meeting with other people in recovery, made me think how easy it was. From that day, I never relapsed and never picked up a drug.’

3. Turning Points as antidotes to the pains of ‘getting started’ in recovery

Formatted: Font: Bold

What became evident during the latter stages of analysis was that the seven turning points appeared to be directly related to the ten pains of recovery in the ‘getting started’ phase of early recovery. Graham (2010) stated that “societies eventually develop antibodies to addictive new things.” In this sense, the seven turning points acted as a sort of antidote to the earlier pains of recovery. Table 2 presents the push and pull dynamics evident in the respondents’ recovery journeys and lists which pains of recovery relate to which turning point.

Table 2 here

Formatted: Font: Bold

Personal Capital Antidotes: ~~Parental responsibility: the antidote to just living for oneself~~

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Beginning to heal: the antidote to childhood trauma

There was an obvious link between experiencing trauma as a child, and then later as an adult, as a result of their recovery journey, entering some form of counselling, or therapeutic group. Consequently, the respondents began to heal their trauma and construct new replacement identities. These interventions acted as an essential antidote to the pains of their childhood experiences.

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Discovering purpose and strengths: the antidote to hopelessness and lack of meaningful direction

Discovering purpose, a core skill set, and a set of signature strengths through employment opportunities was one of the biggest turning points for many in the sample, especially male respondents. This pull factor was the antidote to the pains of a lack of responsibility (discussed above), the pains of unemployment or menial jobs and the pains of purposelessness and hopelessness. This pull factor alone helped to accelerate progress in recovery as it also provided legitimate replacement identities, a sense of affirmation and acceptance. As well as increases to financial capital, it offered access and participation in new esteemed spaces within the work sphere and new self-perceptions and identities.

Parental responsibility: the antidote to living for oneself

The anticipated advent of a child acted as a pull factor, and the awareness of the potential loss of relationship to a child acted as a push factor. Both motivations provided an antidote to earlier pains of purposelessness and lack of responsibility. The mother child relationship provided the respondents with a clear sense of purpose and responsibility beyond themselves.

Commented [DB22]: And this links to the restoration or development of positive identities

Social Capital Antidotes:

Leaving Romantic Partners: the antidote to violent and negative relationships

The literal pains of living with a violent and controlling partner became too much for ~~some~~ the females in the sample. As a result, such pains became the motivational push for them to finally leave the relationship and make a fresh start.

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Social networks in mutual aid, education and employment: the antidote to cutting off subcultural networks, loneliness and isolation

Friendships and social networks gained through mutual aid groups, education and employment provided the antidote to the pains of loneliness and isolation as a result of cutting off old drug using friends and subcultural networks in an attempt to sustain abstinence.

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Community Capital Antidotes:

Mutual aid groups providing a new lens for living: the antidote to subcultural paradigms and relapse

Mutual aid groups were not only important for access to new groups and social networks, but provided new tools and paradigms for life which acted as a replacement to subcultural paradigms and lifestyles. This new lens for living was an antidote to low levels of personal capital as respondents prior to

attending mutual aid groups did not have a paradigm of how to lead a 'conventional lifestyle'. Further, mutual aid groups were key in eliminating or significantly reducing relapse amongst many within the sample.

Returning to education and gaining qualifications: the antidote to under achievement at school and stigma

Returning to education was a key antidote for those who did not achieve qualifications earlier in life and also helped some overcome stigma at work. Attaining qualifications provided much needed validation in the workplace, increased both personal and community capital through an increased sense of empowerment and identity change linked to CHIME. Engagement in education and later in employment provided much needed replacement identities both for themselves but also in the eyes of the other in the community, workplace etc.

Discussion

The paper contributes to our understanding of turning points in addiction to recovery careers by characterising the challenges in overcoming addictions and the role of push and pull factors social capital in sustaining and building recovery pathways. Within the recovery capital framework, we were keen to observe the number and nature of both the pull factors and the pains of recovery as motivations for change, as well as the impact of the factors and forces for initiating and sustaining positive or negative changes in the recovery journey. What became evident during the latter stages of analysis, was that the seven turning points appeared to be directly related to the eleven pains of recovery in the getting started phase of early recovery. Ten themes were identified as pains of recovery in the 'getting started' phase of recovery with no forms of recovery capital (pull factors) identified by the respondents. The ten pains were, lack of responsibility; childhood trauma; subcultural identity and paradigms; purposeless and hopelessness; relapse; negative/violent romantic relationships, eliminating 'old'

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

subcultural drug/criminal friendships and networks, loneliness and isolation; unemployment and menial jobs; low school attainment; and stigma. Seven themes were identified as turning points. The majority of the turning points (five out of seven) were regarded as pull factors: discovering purpose, strengths & signature skills; healing trauma and the emergence of new identities; pathways to social capital and new social networks; fulfilling employment and promotions; returning to education and gaining qualifications; mutual aid, hope and a new lens and tools for living. ~~The pull factors exerted the most influence in creating positive changes which oftentimes had an ongoing positive ripple effect on other aspects of the recovery journey.~~ One turning point was a push factor: leaving negative/violent relationships. ~~One and one~~ turning point was experienced as a push factor for some and a pull factor for others: becoming pregnant/being a parent. Overall, it was observed that pull factors exerted the most influence in creating positive changes which oftentimes had an ongoing positive ripple effect on other aspects of the recovery journey and domains of recovery capital.

Commented [DB23]: Should we address the question here of how it could be both?

~~Turning points and rock bottom moments were heralded in the literature as demonstrating a potency for positive identity or behavioural change. However, push factors in the form of turning points or rock bottom moments generally did not act as motivational push factors that created positive change. Two main exceptions to this were in relation to fleeing a violent and abusive romantic relationship. This was the strongest push factor for lots of the females in the sample which led to further significant advances in their recovery relating to different domains of recovery capital. Being a mother, either becoming pregnant for some or the threat of losing a close mother-child relationship for others was the second push factor that led to positive changes.~~

~~The ~~pull~~ turning points characterised as pull factors showed the greatest positive impact in promoting advances in recovery. These pull factors related to the CHIME model (Leamy et al, 2011) and psychological capital in positive psychology (Youseff-Morgan & Lufhans, 2013) with its emphasis on hope, efficacy, resilience and optimism. ~~fo~~An example of this and the ongoing ripple effects of positive changes that can occur with a pull factor is when ~~for example,~~ employment provided a space for the key turning point of discovery of purpose, a core skill set, ~~empowerment~~ and the expression of strengths.~~

Formatted: Font color: Auto

Commented [DB24]: Do we need to make CHIME more upfront in the rationale and earlier in the introduction

Commented [DB25]: I think sometimes we are trying to introduce too many concepts at once

~~as well as opportunities to develop new, pro-social identities.~~ Such discoveries acted as key turning points and were inextricably linked to advancements in the recovery journey in a range of other recovery capital domains such as an increased sense of empowerment, the achievement of goals, an increased sense of agency, increased recognition and levels of responsibility including promotions and financial rewards. It permitted the creation of new legitimate replacement identities akin to notions of secondary desistance (Farrall, et al., 2014). ~~Discovery of purpose and strengths linked to gaining promotions, finding fulfilling work, increased financial rewards, empowerment through an increased sense of agency and climbing the career ladder. Further ripple effects of this related to roles gained in the workplace which provided scope for the creation of new legitimate replacement identities, and provided recognition and increased levels of responsibility, especially for the males in the sample. They also increased social capital in that they provided increased as new friendships developed in the workplace and access to new pro-social networks emerged. It also provided and in some instances increased access to community resources and opportunities and an increased sense of belonging akin to tertiary desistance (Anderson & McNeil, 2019).~~

Commented [DB26]: And new community capital resources affords access to new social capital and then to personal capital, and then reciprocally back

~~as well as opportunities to develop new, pro-social identities.~~

~~The male respondents in the sample were far more likely to talk about the importance of discovering purpose and strengths as compared to the females. Another example is mutual aid groups, which provided key replacement social networks and replacement paradigms and tools that enabled them to build new ways of being, seeing and doing, they created a strong sense of empowerment and agency, new legitimate identities, and meaningful lifestyles. These were key replacements for subcultural identities, paradigms and social networks.~~

Access to meaningful employment is often cited as a barrier for many in recovery (Best et al., 2021)

The findings here reveal a different perspective of how the positive ripple effects of gaining meaningful employment highlight that it is so much more than simply gaining employment or an income. ~~The reason why gaining meaningful employment and discovery of purpose and signature skills was so potent as a pull factor as a turning point was due to earlier deficits during the addiction phase and the pains of getting started in recovery. Specifically, the pains of purposeless and hopelessness, the pains~~

Commented [DB27]: Link this to the Sampson and Laub work on informal social control

of lack of responsibility and the pains of unemployment and menial jobs. Once pull factors are introduced into a respondent's life, they help to rebalance these life domains from being on the negative side of the recovery capital continuum to moving to the positive side of the recovery capital. They act as an accelerator for change including promoting positive ripple effects which impact multiple areas of life (Best & DeAlwis, 2017; Cloud and Granfield, 2008).

Formatted: Font color: Red

Interestingly, the pull factors and forces expressed through the turning points were typically preceded by one or more related pains of recovery push factors or forces in the 'getting started' in early recovery phase. Graham (2010) stated that "*societies eventually develop antibodies to addictive new things.*" Each turning point acted as a sort of antidote to the pains of recovery previously experienced. The pains of recovery remained a negative, limiting, or painful event/experience which thwarted advances in recovery capital accrual and human flourishing until it was met by a pull factor. For example, childhood trauma remains debilitating until opportunities for healing are presented through counselling, therapy, or mutual aid support; pains of loneliness and isolation persisted as a result of respondents cutting off 'old' drug using and criminal networks until they were greeted with new social networks and opportunities for friendships through the workplace, education and mutual aid groups. The pull factors present a sort of 'door way' to new pathways and modes of being and doing in the world that allows the respondents to move forwards and beyond the pains and barriers experienced. In this sense there is a dynamic interaction occurring at different time points between push and pull factors and forces. Further, respondents experienced multiple turning points at different stages of the recovery journey to initiate and sustain the recovery process. The potency of pull factors and forces as the positive means through which the accrual of recovery capital is gained, is potentially due at least in part to the deficits caused by the pains of recovery and further highlights why a deficit approach to recovery or behaviour change will not prove to be effective. Rather a more comprehensive understanding is needed of the dynamic tensions and relationships between pains, deficits, barriers, push, strengths, assets and pull factors and forces.

Formatted: Justified

Commented [DB28]: This is a big claim – like the 12 step model of attraction over promotion!

The qualitative life course data presented here has uncovered rich insights into the nature of recovery capital and a greater level of nuance in the dynamic interactions between push and pull factors and forces during the recovery journey using a recovery capital framework than would have been highlighted by quantitative data alone. Qualitative research has a much needed role to play in helping to illuminate the intricacies of these interactive and dynamic recovery capital pathways. An even greater number of qualitative studies in this field would be welcomed to advance understandings in the science of recovery. The turning points data presented here has revealed that at any one time, especially in the 'getting started' period of early recovery, the individual is having to grapple with multiple, complex, and at times competing life circumstances and narratives regarding their identity and recovery. Factors such as the physiological effects of substances are also compounded by experiences of marginalisation, stigmatization, abuse, and interpersonal violence.

Negative or painful turning points and rock bottom moments were heralded in the literature as demonstrating a potency for positive identity or behavioural change. However, push factors in the form of turning points or rock bottom moments generally did not act as motivational push factors that created positive change. Two main exceptions to this were found which highlights a possible gendered effect operating where two push factors provided the motivation to make positive changes. Firstly, fleeing a violent and abusive romantic relationship was the strongest push factor for many of the females in the sample. This provided the safety and stability for these respondents to then begin to accrue and build recovery capital in different life domains. Secondly, being a mother, either in the form of becoming pregnant with the threat of losing custody of the baby once it was born or the threat of losing a close mother-child relationship for others became the push factor that led to positive changes. It appears that some of the push dynamics operating may be gender specific.

A third gendered effect was found but this time amongst the male respondents in the sample, who were far more likely than the females to talk about the importance of discovering purpose, strengths and meaningful employment and how this led to a succession of promotions as well as other advances in their recovery capital domains. The females rarely mentioned this as a significant theme and therefore signifies a third potential gendered effect operating within the findings but this time with a pull factor.

Commented [DB29]: In a strengths paradigm rock bottom barriers are a window of opportunity for change

Commented [DB30]: Interestingly these are both intrinsically relational and reminds me of the second SABRS paper

What has emerged is that the same turning point is not always experienced in the same way. Purpose was key to both males and females. The turning point of discovery of purpose came through the form of motherhood for many of the females in the sample and through employment and career for many of the males. The complexity of turning points is further highlighted through the finding that the same turning point, for example motherhood, can also operate as both a push factor for some and yet a pull factor for others. Similarly, the complexity in understanding turning points is highlighted through the potential transformation of a pain of recovery, and whether it remains as such, or becomes a motivational push factor for change. What is potentially occurring with this sample is as Schinkel's (2019: 366) work highlights "how aspects of life which have been positioned as 'turning points' in the desistance and criminal careers literature are not 'points' at all, but complex processes incorporating a multitude of subjective meanings and experiences, with a number of effects on offending trajectories and beyond." What may appear to be a single turning point is part of a larger, more complex, nuanced and dynamic interplay of push and pull factors interlaced with differential levels of individual agency, situated choices and meanings, recovery capital, hope, and structural location within society. The life course approach permitted the perspective that multiple pains of recovery linked directly to what initially appeared to be a single turning point, but upon further investigation is potentially more complex than this. What is potentially occurring with this sample is as Schinkel's (2019: 366) work highlights "using parenthood as an example, it shows how aspects of life which have been positioned as 'turning points' in the desistance and criminal careers literature are not 'points' at all, but complex processes incorporating a multitude of subjective meanings and experiences, with a number of effects on offending trajectories and beyond." What may appear to be a single turning point within the research findings is part of a larger, more complex, nuanced and dynamic interplay of push and pull factors interlaced with differential levels of individual agency, situated choices, recovery capital, hope, and structural location within society.

Formatted: Font color: Dark Red

[The qualitative life course data has uncovered rich insights. Revealing complex nuance in the dynamic interactions between push and pull factors and forces during the recovery journey using a recovery capital framework than would have been possible with quantitative data alone. Qualitative research has a much-needed role to play in helping to illuminate the intricacies of these interactive and dynamic recovery capital pathways. An even greater number of qualitative studies in this field would be welcomed to advance understandings in the science of recovery. The turning points data presented here has revealed that at any one time, especially in the 'getting started' period of early recovery, the individual is having to grapple with multiple, complex, and at times competing life circumstances and narratives regarding their identity and recovery. Factors such as the physiological effects of substances are also compounded by experiences of marginalisation, stigmatization, abuse, and interpersonal violence.](#)

Based on the findings there are numerous implications for policy and practice. Drug policies based on utilitarian-based ideologies of deterrence which inflict further pains onto an already over-burdened individual with excessive pains in the addiction or early phase of recovery is unlikely to be effective yet financially costly. The findings here relating to the supplanting of new paradigms and lifestyle practices through mutual aid groups support the policy recommendation provided in the recent Dame Carol Black review (2021) in England and Wales for the creation of a Recovery-Orientated System of Care (ROSC) to include people with lived experience of drug dependence working as recovery champions and recovery coaches, to provide networks of peer-based recovery support and establish communities of recovery and mutual aid groups.

Commented [DB31]: This sentence needs unpacking and is asking a lot of your readers!

Commented [DB32]: Add something about links to family support, child welfare and education services as well as employment and housing?

In relation to implications for practice, there is a need to raise awareness about the myths of the potency or effectiveness of rock bottom moments. Dispelling belief in the need for a 'rock bottom' moment as a necessary or qualifying event before being able to commence recovery could be key for some who have or would otherwise elongate the addiction phase unnecessarily by waiting for such an event which [in the end](#) is likely to be ineffective (Klingemann, 2011). Belief in the need for rock bottom moments may create unintended harms as individuals unnecessarily postpone treatment or other forms of seeking

help until they hit a rock bottom moment. Those engaged in addictive patterns of drug use and in recovery engage with a range of services during their journey, e.g., drug treatment, criminal justice, mental health, welfare, primary health care etc. The research findings such as these here would help to inform the practices of these professionals working in these arenas when creating recovery care plans, especially when dealing with and could help more effectively facilitate those at key transition points along their drug recovery journey. By mapping out various pains, push and pull factors at different phases of recovery and potential relationships and dynamics between them to inform recovery care plans to help increase the likelihood of accruing recovery capital and one that also considers some of the three gendered effects found where appropriate could be instrumental in promoting positive change.

Commented [DB33]: I think the key for me is to provide access to community capital (recovery, professional and wider community services) that creates opportunities for new social networks and new role models

A number of potential limitations exist with the current research. This article has examined each turning point as a single or isolated turning point as expressed by the research participant. However, life is rarely as compartmentalised as this and so we do acknowledge the likely interconnectedness of a range of factors that may have contributed to interactions between turning points or rock bottom events. Further, each turning point or rock bottom moment has been explored as a driver or obstacle to recovery progress and in this sense has been made subservient to this process which may not have been the respondents view of the particular event or crises etc. Additionally, we used only one of the three countries' data from the REC-PATH study (as part of the initial agreement between the participating sites) and there may well be geographical specificities that apply only in the UK. Finally, the findings here rely on retrospective recall of life course events and so aspects of the respondent's life course accounts may not be fully accurate. However, turning points only make sense as a retrospective interpretation of lived and living experience.

Commented [DP34]: Reviewer 2 noted - The issue of peer support (including related scientific sources) which emerges in the results would perhaps have deserved more space in the discussion and in clinical recommendations.

Are you ok to add an implication/recommendation to practice around peer support?

The implications for recovery research are that conceptually it needs to incorporate more macro understandings of the causes of addiction and the processes of recovery. Inherent within definitions of recovery and recovery capital as a framework for overcoming addiction is the acknowledgement that the causes of addiction and the pathways out through drug recovery go beyond the individual and are also linked to structural and systemic factors and forces as well as social relationships and notions of

belonging and participation in society. The pains of recovery (akin to the pains of desistance) are not necessarily pains experienced as a result of these processes but rather have origins that pre-date entry into either process. In a sense therefore, the pains of addiction and drug recovery should perhaps more accurately be described as the pains of personal, systemic, structural and societal ills. ~~Graham (2010) stated that "societies eventually develop antibodies to addictive new things."~~ Pull factors expressed through a perceived turning point act as the antidote to the pains experienced. It is proposed here that the practices and science of recovery being developed is in effect a kind of antidote or antibody to drug addiction. At present the emphasis remains inaccurately on the individual and their personal process. The pains described by the sample here are of course personal and relate at the individual level, but they are also shared and collective. Therefore the systems, structures and societal ills need to recover also.

References:

- Anderson, S. and McNeill, F. (2019) 'Desistance and Cognitive Transformations' in Farrington, D., Kazemian, L. and Piquero, A., (eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Developmental and Life Course Criminology*. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Addison, M., Kaner, E., Spencer, L., McGovern, W., McGovern, R., Gilvarry, E., & O'Donnell, A. (2020). Exploring pathways into and out of amphetamine type stimulant use at critical turning points: a qualitative interview study. *Health Sociology Review*, 1-16. doi:10.1080/14461242.2020.1811747
- Ashford RD, Brown A, Brown T, Callis J, Cleveland HH, Eisenhart E, Groover H, Hayes N, Johnston T, Kimball T, et al. (2019). Defining and operationalizing the phenomena of recovery: a working definition from the recovery science research collaborative. *Addict Res Theory*. 27(3):179–188.

Best D, Hennessy EA. 2021. The science of recovery capital: where do we go from here? *Addiction*. 3:1–7.

Best D, Sondhi A, Brown L, Nisic M, Nagelhout G, Martinelli T, Van de Mheen D, Vanderplasschen W. (2021). The Strengths and Barriers Recovery Scale (SABRS): relationships matter in building strengths and overcoming barriers. *Front Psychol*. 12:663447.

Best, -D. and -DeAlwis, S. (2017)- ‘Community -recovery- as ~~a~~ public health intervention: The contagion of hope’, *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly*, doi: 10.1080/07347324.2017.1318647

Best, D. (2014) *Strength, Support, Setbacks and Solutions*; London: Pavilion

Best, D. and Laudet, A.B. (2010) *The Potential of Recovery Capital*, London: Royal Society for the Arts.

Best, D., Ghufuran, S., Day, E., Ray, R. and Loaring, J. (2008) ‘Breaking the habit: A retrospective analysis of desistance factors among formerly problematic heroin users’, *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 27(6): 619–24

Betty Ford Institute Consensus Panel. (2007). What is recovery? A working definition from the Betty Ford Institute. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 33, 221-228. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2007.06.001

Biernacki, P. (1986). *Pathways from Heroin Addiction: recovery without treatment*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

Black, C (2021) *Review of drugs part two: prevention, treatment, and recovery*; London: Home Office.

Formatted: Left

Black, C (2020) Review of Drugs; London: Home office.

Brookfield S, Fitzgerald L, Selvey L, Maher L. 2019. Turning points, identity, and social capital: a meta-ethnography of methamphetamine recovery. *International Journal of Drug Policy*. 67:79–90.

[Brooks, J, McCluskey, S, Turley, E & King, N \(2015\) The Utility of Template Analysis in Qualitative Psychology Research, Qualitative Research in Psychology, 12:2, 202-222, DOI: 10.1080/14780887.2014.955224](#)

Clausen, J. A. (1995). Gender, contexts, and turning points in adults' lives. In P. Moen, G. H. Elder Jr., & K. Lüscher (Eds.), *Examining lives in context: Perspectives on the ecology of human development* (pp. 365–389). Washington: American Psychological Association.

Cloud W, Granfield R. 2008. Conceptualizing recovery capital: expansion of a theoretical construct. *Subst Use Misuse*. 43(12–13):1971–1986.

[Dennis M, Scott C, Laudet A. \(2014\) Beyond bricks and mortar: recent research on substance abuse disorder recovery management. Curr Psychiatry Rep.;16\(4\):1–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-014-0442-3](#)

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 11 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 11 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 11 pt

Farrall, S., Hunter, B., Sharpe, G. and Calverley, A. (2014) *Criminal Careers in Transition*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Giordano, P.C., Cernkovich, S.A. and Rudolph, J.L. (2002) 'Gender, crime and desistance', *American Journal of Sociology*, **107**, 990–1064.

Graham, P. (2010). The Acceleration of Addictiveness; [Accessed 1 February 2022] <http://www.paulgraham.com/addiction.html>

Hutchison, E. D. (2019). An update on the relevance of the life course perspective for social work. *Families in Society*, 100(4), 351-366. doi:10.1177/1044389419873240

Hser, Y. I., Longshore, D., & Anglin, M. D. (2007). The life course perspective on drug use: A conceptual framework for understanding drug use trajectories. *Evaluation Review*, 31(6), 515 – 547.

Kay C, Monaghan M. (2019). Rethinking recovery and desistance processes: developing a social identity model of transition. *Addict Res Theory*. 27(1):47–54.

Kelly, J. F., Bergman, B., Hoepfner, B. B., Vilsaint, C., & White, W. L. (2017). Prevalence and pathways of recovery from drug and alcohol problems in the United States population: Implications for practice, research, and policy. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 181, 162-169. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.09.028

Kirouac, M., Frohe, T., & Witkiewitz, K. (2015). Toward the operationalization and examination of “hitting bottom” for problematic alcohol use: A literature review. *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly*, 33(3), 312-327. doi:10.1080/07347324.2015.1050934

Klingemann, J. I. (2011). Lay and professional concepts of alcohol dependence in the process of recovery from addiction among treated and non-treated individuals in Poland: A qualitative study. *Addiction Theory and Research*, 19(3), 266–275. doi:10.3109/16066359.2010.520771.

Leamy M, Bird V, Le Boutillier C, Williams J, Slade M. 2011. A conceptual framework for personal recovery in mental health: systematic review and narrative synthesis. *Br J Psychiatry*. 199(6):445–452.

Maddux, J.F. & Desmond, D.P. (1980). New light on the maturing out hypothesis in opioid dependence. *Bulletin on Narcotics*, 32 , pp. 15 – 25

[Martinelli, T. F., Nagelhout, G. E., Bellaert, L., Best, D., Vanderplasschen, W., & van de Mheen, D. \(2020\). Comparing three stages of addiction recovery: long-term recovery and its relation to housing problems, crime, occupation situation, and substance use. *Drugs-Education Prevention and Policy*, 27\(5\), 387-396. <https://doi.org/10.1080/09687637.2020.1779182>](#)

Formatted: Font color: Auto

McIntosh, J. McKeganey, N. (2001) Identity and Recovery from Dependent Drug Use: the addict's perspective. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, 8:1, 47-59, DOI: [10.1080/09687630124064](https://doi.org/10.1080/09687630124064)

Formatted: Font color: Red

NIDA (2018) Principles of Drug Addiction Treatment: A Research-Based Guide (Third Edition) [accessed on 1 February 2022] <https://nida.nih.gov/publications/principles-drug-addiction-treatment-research-based-guide-third-edition/frequently-asked-questions/drug-addiction-treatment-worth-its-cost>

Nugent, B. and Schinkel, M. (2016) 'The pains of desistance', *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, **16**, p. 568– 84.

Patton, D. Best, D. & Brown, L (2022): Overcoming the pains of recovery: the management of negative recovery capital during addiction recovery pathways, *Addiction Research & Theory*, <https://doi.org/10.1080/16066359.2022.2039912>

Patton, D. and Farrall, S. (2021), Desistance: A Utopian Perspective. *The Howard Journal of Crime and Justice*, 60: p. 209-231.

QSR International. (2022). Unlock insights in your data with powerful analysis. Qualitative Data Analysis Software. [accessed 2020 Jan 2]. NVivo ([qsrinternational.com](https://www.qsrinternational.com)).

Sampson, R. J., & Laub, J. H. (2005). A life-course view of the development of crime. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 602(1), 12–45. <https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716205280075>

Schinkel, M. (2019). Rethinking turning points: Trajectories of parenthood and desistance. *Journal of Developmental and Life-Course Criminology*, 5(3), 366–386. doi:10.1007/s40865-019-00121-8

Schutte, K. K., Byrne, F. E., Brennan, P. L., & Moos, R. H. (2001). Successful remission of late-life drinking problems: A 10-year follow-up. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 62(3), 322–334. <https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.2001.62.322>

Shah, N. G., Galai, N., Celentano, D. D., Vlahov, D., & Strathdee, S. A. (2006). Longitudinal predictors of injection cessation and subsequent relapse among a cohort of injection drug users in Baltimore, MD, 1988–2000. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 83(2), 147–156. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2005.11.007>

Shapland, J. and Bottoms, A. (2011) ‘Reflections on social values, offending and desistance among young adult recidivists’, *Punishment & Society*, 13(3), p. 256– 82.

Standing, G. (2011) *Precariat: New Dangerous Class*, London: Bloomsbury Academic.

Striano M. 2012. Reconstructing narrative: a new paradigm for narrative research and practice. *NI*. 22(1):147–154.

Squire, C., Davis, M., Esin, C., Andrews, M., Harrison, B., Hydén, L., & Hydén, M. (2014). What is narrative research? Starting out. In *What is Narrative Research?* (The 'What is?' Research Methods Series, pp. 1–22). New York: Bloomsbury Academic.

Teruya, C., & Hser, Y.-I. (2010). Turning points in the life course: current findings and future directions in drug use research. *Current Drug Abuse Reviews*, 3(3), 189-195. doi:10.2174/1874473711003030189

UK Drug Policy Commission (2008) The UK Drug Policy Commission Recovery Consensus Group: A Vision of Recovery, London: UK Drug Policy Commission.

Vaillant, G. E. (2012). Triumphs of experience. Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.

[Youssef-Morgan, C.M., & Luthans, F. \(2013\) Psychological capital theory: toward a positive holistic model. In A.B. Bakker \(Ed.\). Advances in positive organizational psychology, Vol. 1 \(pp. 145-166\). Bingley, UK: Emerald.](#)

[In the U.S. the National Institute of Drug Abuse \(2018\) estimated that the costs of substance abuse to society are in excess of \\$600 billion. In the UK, the Dame Carol Black review \(2020\) estimated the total costs of substance misuse to society are over £19 billion with \(86%\) of this figure linked to health and crime related costs from the heroin and crack cocaine markets.](#)